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In the occasion of celebrating Kuwait’s national and liberation 
anniversaries and in acknowledgement of HH the Amir Sheikh 
Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah achievements in all aspects 
of economics, politics and society, Safat Investment Company 
decorated the front façade of its headquarters’ building with 
the world’s largest poster of which will be submitted to the  
Guinness World Record.

The poster’s artistic work and design took over a week of 
constant work, starting with the idea and followed by designing, 
execution and installation. The poster covers 936 square meters 
of the frontage of Safat Tower in Hawally.



HH. SHEIKH
SABAH AL-AHMAD AL-JABER AL-SABAH

Amir of the State of Kuwait

HH. SHEIKH
NAWAF AL-AHMAD AL-JABER AL-SABAH

Crown Prince of the State of Kuwait
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Company Profile

Alsafat Investment Company was incorporated on September 15th, 1983 as a Kuwaiti Share-
holding Company (KSC) that currently has a share capital of KD 25,693,940.

It conducts its business with adherence to Islamic Shariah and the rules and regulations set 
by Kuwaiti Capital Markets Authority, the Central Bank of Kuwait and Ministry of Commerce 
and Industry.

Safat has a wide-ranging investments and interests in real-estate, finance and other sectors; 
in addition, it offers a diverse set of financial and consultancy services that supports the 
shareholders’ aims and goals.

All investments and financial services offered by the Company are in accordance with the 
highest standards of Islamic Shariah compliance, supervised by a CMA-Certified Islamic Sha-
riah Auditor.

Company's activities:

1)	 Invest in real estate, financial, healthcare, industrial, energy, agricultural, food and other 
economic sectors through participating in the establishment of specialized companies or 
purchase of stocks and bonds in these companies, or manage projects in various sectors.

2) Manage funds of private and public institutions funds and investing such funds in the var-
ious economic sectors.

3) Conduct and provide technical, economic and evaluation consultancy, study investment 
projects and prepare the necessary studies through a professional integrated team.

4) Act as an intermediary in lending and borrowing transactions and extend loans to others 
in accordance with the generally recognized conventions and rules and regulations laid 
down by the Central Bank of Kuwait. 

5) Perform the functions of lead manager of bonds issued by companies and institutions as 
well as the functions of investment trustee.

6) Carry out stock trading including sale and purchase of shares and bonds of local and inter-
national governmental institutions.

7) Provide all services that assist in development and reinforcement of the market’s financial 
and monetary capabilities in Kuwait and satisfying its needs.

8) Form and manage all kinds of investment funds in accordance with the applicable law. 

9) Manage and oversee the activities of Collective Investment Scheme acting as an “Invest-
ment Controller”.
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Subsidiaries of Al-Safat Investment Company:

Assosiates of Al-Safat Investment Company:

Key Investments of Al-Safat Investment Company:

Name of the Company

Al-Qudra Holding Company - United Arab Emirates

Senergy Holding Company K.S.C.

Osos Holding Group Company K.S.C.

Shuaiba Industrial Company K.P.S.C.

Kuwait Medical Centre Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed)

Name of the Subsidiary Ownership
Percentage

2017

Al-Safat Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) 100 %

Safat House for Consultancy Company K.S.C. (Closed) 96 %

Dar Al-Safat for General Trading Company W.L.L. 100 %

The Roots Brokerage – Egypt 60 %

Safat House for General Trading Company W.L.L. 80 %

Name of the Associate
Ownership
Percentage

2017

Asia Holding Company K.S.C 21.7%
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Board of Directors
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Abdullah Hamad AlTerkait 
Chairman

Abdul Muhsen Suliman Al Meshan 
Board Member and Chief Executive Officer

Mishaal Ahmed Al Jareki 
Board Member

Dr. Anwar Ali Al Naqi
Board Member

Naser Bader Al Sharhan 
Board Member

Abdul Razzaq Zaid Al Dhubayan 
Board Member

Fahad Abdul Rahman Al Mukhaizim 
Vice Chairman



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 201710

Distinguished shareholders of Safat Investment Company,

May peace be upon you. On half of the Board of Directors it is my pleasure to wel-
come all of you, and to present the annual report for the year 2017 that will highlight 
the company’s performance, along with the Consolidated Financial Statements, Au-
ditors’ Report, Sharia Compliance Report, Corporate Governance Report and Audit 
Committee’s Report.

It is no secret, that we face challenges in the investment sector which is still suffer-
ing from the lack of liquidity in relation to the resurgence of corporate operations, in 
addition to the fluctuation of the region’s market due to the correlation between the 
region’s and global market, the political climate and the fear of a global economic 
recession in by its own right a challenge.

Safat commenced 2017 with clear specific goals, to work towards comprehensive cor-
porate restructuring and laying down the foundation for institutionalizing all it’s oper-
ations. With the grace of god was able to achieve with the diligent work of the board 
of directors, executive management and staff in a brief period to adjust and improve 
the company’s track and performance. Also, the company implemented a plan and a 
new strategy through focus on strategic sectors to achieve sustainable growth to it’s 
businesses and expedite internal growth by funding growth maximizing opportuni-
ties in addition to modernizing internal policies and procedures and building a team 
of young experienced professionals to take on future challenges.

Chairman’s Statement
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The focus of management was to increase revenues, improve liquidity levels and 
keep the financial standing of the company intact, as well as strengthen the com-
pany’s assets through focus on operational income-generating investments, mean-
while decreasing corporate spending within the framework of the corporate strategy 
of the board of directors.

ASIC continuously strived towards establishing a framework of transparency, gov-
ernance and control which in part to increase institutionalization as Capital Market 
Authority and other regulatory authorities require. And regarding compliance to cor-
porate governance rules related to the integrity of financial statements, the board of 
directors assures the adequacy and accuracy of 2017’s financial statements and other 
related reports that were handed to external auditors to do what they’re required to. 
As for the board of directors’ benefits for 2017, it should be noted that they did not 
receive financial and non-financial benefits, salaries, bonuses or compensation for 
attending committee meetings. 

The execution of the plan developed by the company in previous years to minimize 
expenses and costs in order to improve and strengthen the company’s performance, 
as well as finding exceptional opportunities through buying and owning stakes in 
high-yielding companies with valuable assets, in tern caused increase in growth and 
profitability for the company.

The company’s financial performance as of December 31st, 2017

Safat Investment Company (parent company) ended FY 2017 with profit, the third 
year in a row, and it’s profitability amounted to KD 1,028,125 and equivalent of 4.01 
Fils/share in comparison to end of FY 2016 profits of KD 844,357, an equivalent of 3.29 
Fils/share.

Furthermore, the company’s assets as of December 31st, 2017 amounted to KD 56.9m 
in comparison to KD 60.2m in December 31st, 2016.

The shareholders equity for the parent company amounted to KD 22.9m in December 
31st, 2017, as well as, the book value for the parent company is 89.5 Fils/share.

Moreover, the total liabilities for the group as of December 31st, 2017 amounted to KD 
25.4m while it was KD 24m in December 31st, 2016.

The Wakala payable due for December 31st, 2017 amounted to KD 20.9m as the year 
before and it represents the existing Wakala with Qatar National Bank. The Wakala 
agreement between the company and Qatar National Bank resulted to legal dispute 
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regarding the liquidation f the agreement and on April 6th, 2016, the court ruled ces-
sation of execution of the previous ruling issued on January 27th, 2016 by the Court 
of Appeals till the disposition of appeal, noting that the court is still looking in the 
matter.

All are aware of the efforts and endeavors of the company’s management to resolve 
this issue in a matter in which it preserves the rights of its shareholders.

In conclusion, on my behalf and on behalf of fellow board members, I extend my sin-
cerest gratitude for the trust we were given which we consider our greatest support 
and had the utmost effect in our successful journey and improving the company’s 
performance. I also would like to thank my fellow board members and executive 
management and the company’s employees for their efforts in improving the com-
pany’s performance.

I would also like to thank the Ministry of Commerce and Industry, the Capital Markets 
Authority and the Central Bank of Kuwait for their diligence for protecting the rights of 
shareholders and stakeholders by embracing best practices and international stan-
dards that will revive the investment and economic sector in the State of Kuwait.

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Abdullah Hamad AlTerkait
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The Corporate Governance rules of Safat Investment Company comprises of com-

mitment to work ethics and values, and in principles, systems and procedures that 

ensures the optimal protection and balance between the interests of the Company’s 

management, shareholders and related stakeholders. The main objective of imple-

menting Corporate Governance rules is to make sure the its goals align with its share-

holders, which in turn will strengthen investor confidence in the Company’s manage-

rial efficiency and it’s ability to face crises.

Corporate Governance is also related to the Company’s management style, corporate 

culture, policies and how it deals with different stakeholders, in addition to accuracy 

in financial disclosures in a timely manner, performance and equity.

In 2017, the company worked diligently to implement its Corporate Governance rules 

to boost its transparency level and integrity of corporate operations. Also, a full review 

of Corporate Governances rules and practices was applied to reassure and expand 

trust in dealing with the Company. Furthermore, shareholders and stakeholders were 

able to monitor the Company efficiently, which is built on the independence of the 

Board of Directors and the separation between their roles as management and con-

troller through committees.

Rule 1: Building a balanced Board of Directors

Safat Investment Company’s Board of Directors is adequate to the size and the nature 

of activities of the Company, the tasks and responsibilities assigned to it, as it’s made 

of seven members that were elected by shareholders of the Company’s Ordinary 

General Assembly in August 23rd, 2016 for three years, after approval of the Capital 

Markets Authority of the names of nominees for the Board, taking into consideration 

that its made of four non-executive members, two independent members and one 

executive member.

Corporate Governance Report FY 2017
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All Board Members are experienced and qualified professionals with the right cre-

dentials for the Company, details as follow:

Name Classification Education & 
Experience

Election Date/ 
Appointment 
Date (Board 
Secretary)

Abdullah Hamad 
Al-Terkait

Chairman – 
Non-Executive

Bachelors of Public 
Administration & Political 
Science
Has 12 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Fahad 
Abdul Rahman
Al Mukhaizim

Vice-Chairman 
Non-Executive

MBA and a Bachelors of 
Finance.
Has 22 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Abdul Muhsen 
Suliman 
Al Meshan

Member - Executive Bachelors in 
International Finance 
and Marketing.
Has 38 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Naser Bader
Al Sharhan

Member - 
Independent

Bachelors of Political 
Science and Marketing. 
Has 20 years experience

August 23rd, 
2016

Mishaal Ahmed 
Al Jareki

Member – 
Non-Executive

MBA with specialization 
in General and Strategic 
Management; Bachelors 
of Accounting.
Has 12 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Dr. Anwar Ali 
Al Naqi, 

Member - 
Independent

PhD and MSc in Civil 
Engineering; Bachelors 
of Architecture.
Has 40 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Abdul Razzaq 
Zaid Al Dhubayan

Member –
Non-Executive

Bachelors of Civil 
Engineering.
Has 13 years experience.

August 23rd, 
2016

Khawla 
Mohammed 
Kendeel

Board Secretary Certificate of Business 
Management.
Has 20 years experience.

February 23rd, 
2014



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 2017 15

The Board of Directors allocate enough time to conduct their assigned tasks and re-
sponsibilities, in which the Board meets when the Chairman calls for a meeting.

Brief on Board Meeting

Board meetings for FY 2017 is shown below

Name
Meeting 

(1) on 
29/3/2017

Meeting 
(2) on 

26/4/2017

Meeting 
(3) on 

11/5/2017

Meeting 
(4) on 

18/6/2017

Meeting 
(5) on 

13/8/2017

Meeting 
(6) on 

9/11/2017
Abdullah 
Hamad 
AlTerkait

√ √ √ √ √ √

Fahad Abdul 
Rahman Al 
Mukhaizim

√ √ √ √ √ √

Abdul Muhsen 
Suliman Al 
Meshan

√ √ √ √ √ √

Naser Bader Al 
Sharhan √ √ √ √ √ √

Mishaal 
Ahmed Al 
Jareki

√ √ √ √ √ √

Anwar Ali Al 
Naqi, PhD √ √ √ √ √ √

Abdul Razzaq 
Zaid
 Al Dhubayan

√ √ √ √ √ √

Also, all Board Members adopted two resolutions in the first pass on January 29th, 
2017 and second on December 27th, 2017.

Explanation of applying registration, coordination, record keeping requirements for 
Board of Director meetings

The Board Secretary assists the Board Members completely to ensure availability of 
information available to them, and assists the Chairman of the Board in issues re-
lating to the preparation of the Business Agenda and issuing invitations to Board 
Members. The Board Secretary also records all Board resolutions and discussions, in 
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addition to vote counting in Board meetings. Documents and ledgering with serial 
numbers per year along with the place, date, time of commencement and ending of 
meetings are documented by the Board Secretary.

Rule 2: Proper identification of tasks and responsibilities

This is how the Company defines the policy of the responsibilities, tasks, and duties 
of each member of the Board of Directors and Executive Management, and also the 
responsibilities which have been delegated to the Executive Management.

The Board of Directors has therefore adopted a special charter for itself which includes 
the duties and responsibilities assigned to them. However, this is not limited to:

•	 Adopting various strategic objectives, plans, and policies of the Company and 
reviewing them periodically;

•	 Approval of estimated annual budgets, approval of interim and annual financial 
statements before sending them to the regulatory authorities;

•	 Supervise major capital expenditures, in addition to owning and disposing of as-
sets;

•	 Ensuring compliance with policies and procedures to in relation to internal proce-
dures and regulations;

•	 Ensuring accuracy and safety of data and information to be disclosed in regard to 
the applicable disclosure and transparency policies and procedure;

•	 Establishing effective communication channels that will allow shareholders to 
view different aspects of the Company’s activities;

•	 Forming technical committees originating from it in accordance to a charter that 
specifies the responsibilities and authority of each committee;

•	 Determining the powers entrusted to the Executive Management through the 
adoption of a comprehensive table of powers of the organization, supervised by 
the Board of Directors to ensure performance of tasks.

Achievements of the Board of Directors in 2017

In accordance with the Board’s responsibilities in achieving the optimal financial, op-
erational results and achieving the Company’s strategic plan, the current Board of Di-
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rectors was involved in the fulfillment of a number of tasks, as such was the approval 
of the Financial Statements for FY 2016 and interim (quarterly) reports and submitted 
them to regulatory authorities to be audited.

The decision was then made to make invest abroad through specialized parties 
to maximize returns. During the year, the Board of Directors appointed Mr. Abdul 
Muhsen Suliman Al Meshan as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company after 
being approved by the Capital Markets Authority for his candidacy. 

This was followed by the appointment of two independent Board Members as Mr.  
Al Meshan served as an independent Board Member. Also, the Investor Relations 
Unit was established in compliance to the corporate governance rules, and the ap-
proval of the budget estimate for FY 2017, as well as approving some policies and 
internal regulations that were updated. Furthermore, the Board approved liquidating 
non-profitable investments and writing them off.

Highlight of specialized independent committees by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors formed several committees and took into consideration Cor-
porate Governance rules and regulations from the Capital Markets authority when 
establishing such committees, and laws and instructions issued from the Central 
Bank of Kuwait regarding Companies which carry out financial activities activities. The 
Board of Committees will include:

Audit Committee

This committee was formed on September 25th, 2016 and it’s duration is related to 
the mandate of the current Board of Directors. It’s members are  Fahad Abdul Rah-
man Al Mukhaizim (Chairman), Dr. Anwar Ali Al-Naqi, (Vice Chairman) and Nasser 
Badr Al-Sharhan. It held 5 meetings.

Duties and the achievements of the Committee in 2017

•	 Reviewing interim and annual financial statements, the external auditors report 
and initially approving them before submission to the Board of Directors for final 
approval. This is to ensure the relevance of the financial statements of the compa-
ny and the independence of the external auditor.

•	 Discussing and studying the observations contained in the External Auditor’s Re-
port for the fiscal year 2016.
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•	 Adopting the internal audit plan for various Company departments.

•	 Recommend hiring new external auditors for the Company in compliance with ar-
ticle 3-4-6 of Module 5 – Securities Activities and Registered Persons which states 
that each registered auditor shall not review or audit for any client for a period 
exceeding four consecutive financial years unless the Client is under liquidation. 
The term shall be calculated as of the date of registration in the Auditors’ register 
with the Capital Markets Authority;

•	 Review and approve Internal Control Review (ICR) report for FY 2016 that was 
prepared by Baker Tilly and submitted with the Capital Markets Authority, and au-
thorize the internal auditor to follow-up and resolve observations;

•	 Review the Company’s Capital Market Authority’s inspection report and recom-
mend mitigating its observations;

•	 Review internal auditing reports prepared in FY 2017 for all Company’s depart-
ments and related observations, authorizing the Company’s internal auditor and 
compliance officer to follow-up on mitigating them.

Risk Committee

This committee was formed on September 25th, 2016 and it’s duration is related to 
the mandate of the current Board of Directors. It’s members are Dr. Anwar Ali Al-Naqi,  
(Chairman), Mishaal Ahmed Al Jareki  (Vice Chairman) and Abdul Razzaq Zaid Al Dhu-
bayan. It held 4 meetings.

Tasks and achievements of the Committee during 2017

•	 Prepare and follow-up risk management strategies and policies. Additionally, 
evaluate systems and mechanisms for identification and measurement of differ-
ent types of risks;

•	 Assist the Board of Directors in identifying and assessing key risks facing the Com-
pany to ensure it manages risks efficiently and effectively;

•	 Review and approve risk reports sent to the Capital Markets Authority prepared by 
the Risk Management Officer;

•	 Review the results of Capital Markets Authority’s inspection of the Company and 
the procedures taken to correct the report observations. Moreover, to authorize 
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the Risk Management Officer to follow-up and resolve imbalances in various 
Company departments;

•	 Review imposed violations by the Capital Market Authority during the year, and 
identify the procedures for resolving the issue by delegating the Risk Manage-
ment Officer and the Compliance Officer to follow-up.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee

This committee was formed on September 25th, 2016 and it’s duration is related to 
the mandate of the current Board of Directors. It’s members are Abdullah Hamad 
AlTerkait (Chairman), Abdul Razzaq Zaid Al Dhubayan  (Vice Chairman) and Naser 
Bader Al Sharhan. It held 2 meetings.

Tasks and achievements of the Committee in 2017

•	 Prepare a clear remuneration policy for the Board of Directors and Executive Man-
agement;

•	 Identify skill requirements for Board membership and review of them annually;

•	 Review and approve the remuneration report to be handed to the Board of Direc-
tors and Executive Management during the year;

•	 Study and match requirements for independent Board Members;

•	 Nominate a Financial Manager of the Company in succession to the previous fi-
nancial manager and complete registration procedures with the Capital Markets 
Authority before appointment.

Appropriations Committee

This committee was formed on September 25th, 2016 and it’s duration is based on 
the decision of the current Board of Directors. It’s members are Abdullah Abdul Raz-
zaq Zaid Al Dhubayan (Chairman), Hassan Mahmoud Qaqish (Vice Chairman) and 
Ahmed Aref Afouf. It held 2 meetings.

Tasks and achievements of the Committee during 2017

•	 Recognize and approve appropriations to back standing receivable accounts and 
doubtful debts;

•	 Approve additional provision for legal action.
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Executive Committee

This committee was formed on September 25th, 2016 and it’s duration is based on 
the decision of the current Board of Directors. It’s members are Fahad Abdul Rahman 
Al Mukhaizim (Chairman), Abdullah Hamad AlTerkait (Vice Chairman), Naser Bader Al 
Sharhan and Mishaal Ahmed Al Jareki.It did not hold any meetings.

Credit Committee

The Credit Committee is currently inactive due to Safat Investment Company does not 
practice financing. However, it was established to comply with Central Bank of Kuwait 
regulations, as the Company has this activity.

Summary of application requirements to enable Board Members to obtain ac-
curate and timely information and data

The Company’s Board of Directors has adopted the procedure guide to enable that 
members to obtain information in a timely and accurate manner in accordance with 
the relevant laws and regulations. The guide defines the mechanism for requesting 
and presenting information to the Board of Directors. It also has the procedures and 
obligations of Members to ensure that they maintain the confidentiality of the infor-
mation that they obtain by virtue of their work.

Rule 3: Choosing qualified and competent individuals for the Board of Directors 
and Executive Management.

Brief about the application and requirements of forming Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

The nomination mechanism inside the Company guarantees the continuity of choos-
ing and attracting qualified individuals to join either the nomination to the Board of 
Directors or the Executive Management. The Board has formed this committee in 
compliance to Corporate Governance rules, where it has to include an independent 
member. The Board also approved a committee charter that stipulates the tasks and 
responsibilities of the committee which includes:

•	 Recommend the nomination and re-nominate Board Members and Executive 
Managers;

•	 Set clear policies for the Board and Executive Management’s numerations;
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•	 Attract interested applicants for executive positions on-need basis, additionally 
study and review these applications;

•	 Determine various levels of bonuses for employees;

•	 Outline the Board’s executive, non-executive and independent members job de-
scription;

•	 Endorse and re-nominate members for elections for the General Assembly and 
ensure impartiality of independent Board Members;

•	 Specify evaluation mechanisms for the Board of Directors as a whole, individual 
Board Members and Executive Management;

•	 Setup indicators for evaluating the boards performance and revisiting those indi-
cators annually;

•	 Review and suggest training programs and workshops for Board members;

•	 Review salaries and the Company’s corporate hierarchy periodically;

•	 Prepare a detailed annual report about the numerations given to Board Members 
and Executive Managers, whether it’s monetary, benefits or otherwise, to be sub-
mitted to the General Assembly for approval.

Report about renumerations given to all boards of directors and executive 
managers

A detailed report has been made regarding renumerations and benefits awarded to 
the Board of Directors and Executive Management of Safat Investment Company and 
its associated companies during the year 2017.

Rule 4: Ensuring the Integrity of Financial Statements 

Signed undertaking from each Board of Directors and Executive Management to en-
sure the adequacy and integrity of prepared financial statements.

Brief about the Audit Committees application and requirements

The Audit committee’s main objective is to supervise all audit related issues and to 
make sure of the integrity and adequacy of financial statements and internal control 
systems. The audit committee carries out the following tasks (Not inclusive):

•	 Review all interim and annual financial reports before presentation and submit 
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recommendations to the Board;

•	 Recommend External Auditors to the Board;

•	 Study and review observations on the financial statements and request Executive 
Management to revise them if needed;

•	 Recommend Internal Auditors to the Board, and review and approve internal au-
diting schemes;

•	 Review internal auditing results and improvise to resolve issues;

•	 Review regulatory authorities’ inspection results and take action to resolve issues;

•	 Review issues related to nominating External Auditors and submit recommenda-
tions to the Board;

•	 Recommend an Independent Auditor to evaluate and review internal auditing 
mechanisms and prepare an Internal Control Report.

During FY 2017 there were no conflicts between the Audit Committee and the Board’s 
resolutions.

External Auditor’s Independence and neutrality

The Ordinary General Assembly that took place on August 14th, 2017 agreed to hire 
External Auditors for FY 2018 which are Mr. Khaled Hassan Ibrahim Al-Ahmed of Al-
Soor Certified Public Accountants, and Mr. Faisal Saqer Abdul Karim Al-Saqer BDO Al 
Nisf & Partners.

The Company’s External Auditors are registered with the Capital Markets Authority 
and they are independent from corporate structure and its Board of Directors. The 
External Auditors are invited to attend the Ordinary General Assembly, where their 
report is orated to the shareholders. They’re also allowed to discuss their opinion with 
the Audit Committee before submission of the interim and annual financial reports to 
the Board to take a decision on it’s regard. 

Rule 5: Establishing sound Risk Management and Control Systems

Requirements for establishing independent administration for risk management

The Company established a risk management department that works to protect the 
company from different possible risks and identifying acceptable risk trends and 
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classes. It does that utilizing an array of internal control systems that are adequate 
for the Company and the nature of its activities. The individual in-charge of the de-
partment is experienced and approved by the Capital Markets Department and has 
structural independence in that he answers to the Board of Directors based on the 
established corporate hierarchy.

Requirements for forming the Risk Management Committee

The main role of the aforementioned committee is to supervise issues relating to risk 
management, and to contribute in creating policies and regulations for managing 
risk in sync with the Company’s acceptable risk level. All that, and the committee 
must adhere to the following:

•	 Review the Company’s risk related policies and procedures and advise the Board 
of Directors in that regard;

•	 Evaluate mechanisms and systems for identifying and measuring types of risk 
facing the Company;

•	 Ensure the independence of the risk management department’s employees, and 
that they fully understand the risks facing the Company;

•	 Review risk related reports that are sent to the Capital Markets Authority regularly, 
and work towards providing crisis solutions and follow-up with the Risk Manage-
ment Department to mitigate risk in these reports;

•	 Follow-up on the issues raised by the Audit Committee in relation to risk.

Control and monitoring mechanisms

Safat Investment Company created control mechanisms, procedures and effective 
tools to manage risk and monitoring, covering all Company activities. Also, the Com-
pany constantly develops reporting systems in the Company’s department to miti-
gate risk through implementing the principle of double monitoring to ensure clear 
separation of authority and responsibilities, and dealing with conflict of interest. 
Moreover, the Company has a Monitoring and Internal Audit Department which the 
Board of Directors ensures their active role, supporting them to achieve the highest 
level of internal monitoring.

Additionally, the Company has a Compliance Department that has talented profes-
sionals to ensure compliance with all laws and regulations, as this department is con-
sidered one of the most important tools in control and internal monitoring with the 
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Company, working in cooperation with the Audit and Risk Management Departments 
to implement procedures for checking and double monitoring, while the Board of 
Directors actively supports it.

Requirements for establishing an Independent Internal Audit Department

Safat Investment Company established an independent internal audit committee 
that is completely technical by making it under the Audit Committee in the corporate 
hierarchy which in turn was established by the Board of Directors. The Internal Audit 
Department has many objectives such as monitoring, reviewing the performance 
of different departments and making sure correct utilization of mechanisms, proce-
dures and internal policies, in addition to the ensuring the competence of internal 
monitoring mechanisms for each of the company’s department and preparing a re-
lated report and presenting it to the Audit Committee. It also works on checking the 
observations of External Auditors regarding internal monitoring systems and ensures 
they’re implemented.

Rule 6: Strengthening professional behavior and ethical values

Standards and determinants of professional conduct and ethical values

The Company’s Board of Directors has set standards and determinants that establish 
ethical concepts and values in the Company in accordance with the requirements of 
all official bodies. The Executive Management seeks to implement the Company’s 
objectives, standards and determinants and to include them in all business opera-
tions. In addition, a policy for reporting illegal practices has been prepared in case any 
illicit or unsafe behavior were observed. The policy also addressed other important 
aspects such as the relationship with shareholders, the information security policy, 
where all Board of Directors, Executive Management and staff must adhere to in all 
their tasks and business operations. 

Policies and mechanisms for reducing conflict of interests

The Board of Directors approved a special policy for conflict of interests, with the aim 
of implementing suitable policies to find any crucial conflict of interests and dealing 
with them in an effective manner, and to confirm that the Board of Directors is dealing 
with these possible conflicts and that all decisions are taken based on what is benefi-
cial for the Company. This policy is a crucial part of the Company’s commitment to in-
tegrity and fairness in dealing with stakeholders. The policy also explains the different 
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ways of dealing with cases of conflict of interest, and understanding of the topic, and 
the different parties who may have conflicts with the interest of the company. Also, 
the policy explains in detail the role of the Board of Directors, Executive Management, 
executive manner, Compliance Department, Internal auditing and General Assembly 
in terms of conflict of interest, along with the disclosure mechanism. 

Rule 7: Accurate disclosure and transparency in a timely manner

Accurate and transparent disclosure mechanisms that define the different par-
ties, aspects and characteristics of disclosure

The Company is characterized with openness, honesty and cooperation. In accor-
dance with its established principles and in application of best practices of good gov-
ernance and compliance with all legal requirements, the Board of Directors adopted 
a policy of disclosure and transparency, including definitions of certain important le-
gal terms. In addition, the policy explains all the different general disclosure policies, 
rules, mechanisms and were added to the Company’s website. The aim of this policy 
is to create general guidelines for operations to be more efficient and effective. The 
company has also prepared a special document which explains all reports and peri-
odic reports of regulatory bodies.

Board of Directors and Executive Management’s disclosure requirements

The Company has prepared a special record with all the disclosures of the Board of 
Directors, Executive Management and insiders, and disclosures regarding the group’s 
ownership of shares listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. It also ensures the applica-
tion of disclosure rules regarding interests and insiders.

Investor Relations Unit formation requirement

The Board of Directors of Safat Investment Company established a unit on March 
29th, 2017 to regulate investor relations in compliance with provisions of corporate 
governance rules, as well as preparation of policies and procedures for the work of 
the unit. The aim of this unit is to regulate the mechanisms of dealing with investors 
and be responsible for providing the required data and information for investors and 
shareholders via usual disclosure channels. 

Information technology infrastructure development

Safat Investment Company uses information technology to enhance disclosure pro-
cedures, where it has improved its website lately to comply with the rules of gover-
nance and disclosure. The company is currently working on posting all its disclosure 
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information on that website as soon as they are issued for all interested parties to 
view them. The Compliance Department also relies on the electronic system to deter-
mine interests and their changes.

Rule 8: Preserving shareholders’ equity

Requirements for identifying and preserving shareholders’ equity

Safat Investment Company guarantees the equity of shareholders in accordance with 
commercial law issued by the Ministry of Commerce and Industry, the rules of gover-
nance issued by the Capital Markets Authority and all related resolutions and instruc-
tions. The Company has also prepared and adopted a policy to protect shareholders’ 
rights vis-à-vis the Board of Directors in order fo shareholders to have the following 
rights: 

•	 Record contributed ownership amount in the Company’s records;

•	 Managing shares via ownership registration and/or transfer;

•	 Receive allocated share dividend; 

•	 Obtain share of asset value in case of liquidation;

•	 Access data and information about the Company’s activities and investment strat-
egies regularly and easily;

•	 Participate in General Assembly meetings and vote on its decisions; 

•	 Elect Board Members; 

•	 Monitor the company’s performance generally, and the Board of Directors in par-
ticular;

•	  Question the Board of Directors and Executive Management and take legal re-
course if failed to perform their assigned functions.

Creation of a registrar at the clearing house

A shareholders’ registrar at Kuwait Clearing Company is created with their informa-
tion and ownership as per Corporate Governance requirement. The Investor Relations 
Officer maintains and updates a copy of the registrar and makes it available to all 
shareholders in adequate time and in accordance with the law, without any fee re-
quirements. 
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Encourage stakeholders to participate and vote in private meetings of the Com-

pany’s Assemblies

The Company encourages proactive participation of its shareholders in the meetings 

of the General Assembly and discuss the topics listed on the Assembly’s Agenda. The 

shareholders also have the right to vote on the decisions of the General Assembly 

on behalf in person or on their behalf, and provides information related to the voting 

rights to all shareholders and potential investors

The Company has invited the shareholders in 2017 to attend the Ordinary General As-

sembly meeting and included the Business Agenda. There were two daily announce-

ments in the daily newspapers of the State of Kuwait.

Rule 9: Recognizing the role of stakeholders

Rules and policies that guarantee the protection and recognition the rights of 

stakeholders

The Company continuously strives to respect and preserve the rights of stakeholders 

in its internal and external operations, utilizing an adequate approach that protects 

their rights by following the laws and regulations regarding that issue. It also honors 

its contractual obligations with other parties and commits to its obligations and du-

ties that stem from these contracts and agreements. 

Being aware of the stakeholders’ interests, the Company has put in place a suitable 

mechanism to facilitate the communication of wrongful practices they are subjected 

to, through the preparation and adoption of a policy to protect the rights of stake-

holders.

Encourage stakeholder participation in various Company activities

The Company provides stakeholders with access to information and data relevant to 

their activities through the Investor Relations Unit, Customer Service Department and 

Complaints Unit, as well as through the Company’s website and ongoing disclosures, 

and through the development of performance methods and services for stakehold-

ers. It has also developed appropriate policies to enable stakeholders to report to the 

Board of Directors any improper practices they are exposed to by the Company, and 

to provide appropriate protection to reporting parties.
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Rule 10: Strengthening and improving performance

Mechanisms that enable Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Manage-
ment to receive training sessions and programs on a regular basis

Safat Investment Company has continuously worked on preparing and improving a 
plan to conduct training sessions and programs for the Board of Directors and Exec-
utive Management to ensure that they gain a proper understanding of the Compa-
ny’s different activities and policies, along with their responsibilities. The plan also 
includes financial and operational aspects of the company’s activities, legal and reg-
ulatory obligations, duties and powers, ways of combating money laundering and 
terrorist financing, the Company’s strategy and plan of action, the role of different 
Board of Directors committees and the laws regulating activities of the Company and 
its regulatory bodies.

Assessing the performance of the Board of Directors, and the performance of 
individual Board Members and Executive Management

Policies and systems were developed by the Company to measure and evaluate the 
performance of each member of the Board of Directors and Executive Management 
on a regular basis and has developed a set of performance measurement indicators 
in relation to the achievement of the company’s strategic objectives, risk manage-
ment quality and adequacy of internal control systems. This also includes assessing 
weaknesses and introducing proposal to deal with them in accordance with the com-
pany’s interest. 

Board of Directors’ efforts to create corporate values for the Company’s employees

The Board of Directors of Safat Investment Company have worked to create values 
on the short, medium and long run by devising the mechanisms and procedures 
that work towards achieving the Company’s strategic objectives and improving per-
formance rates.  This took place in addition to developing the integrated reporting 
systems to create such corporate values for the it’s employees.

Rule 11: Focusing on the importance of social responsibility

A policy that ensures a balance between the company’s and societal goals 

A policy was developed by the Company to manage its social responsibility, which 
enables the company to successfully achieve its objectives by acting ethically and 
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contributing to the sustainable development of society in general and its company’s 
employees particularly. This ultimately helps in improving the living conditions of the 
workforce and their families, society, and reduces levels of unemployment in society, 
optimizing the use of available resources, providing them with jobs, and supporting 
and encouraging national labor.

Programs and Mechanisms to highlight the Company’s efforts in the social 
work field

Safat Investment Company has prepared policies to ensure the disclosure of its social 
responsibility objectives to its employees. Awareness and education programs are 
regularly conducted to guarantee that they are aware of the social responsibility ob-
jectives of the Company and continuously contribute in improving related standards 
and elevate its corporate level. Employees contribute to the social responsibility pro-
gram by participating in various community activities conducted by the Company.

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Abdullah Hamad AlTerkait
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Board of Directors of Safat Investment Company is entrusted with establishing and 
following up internal control systems. Such responsibilities are not limited to approv-
ing audit forms and procedures but extend to ensuring adoption of enhanced inter-
nal control systems in the Company.

Internal Control Systems
The Audit Committee operates using its Board of Directors’ approved charter to en-
sure that the Internal Audit Unit and the rest of the Company’s departments comply 
with all policies and procedures of internal control that cover various company activi-
ties, defining the company’s control strategy and the roles and duties of the Compa-
ny’s employees. 

In 2017, the Audit Committee held regular meetings to manage and measure efficien-
cy of the internal control systems where the external auditors and the internal auditor 
attended. The committee highlights for the year consist of:

•	 Review interim and annual financial statements and external auditors report be-
fore submission to the Board of Directors for final approval, to ensure the adequa-
cy of the Company’s financial statements and the integrity of the external auditor 
which his opinion impartial and attached to the Company’s annual report;

•	 Discuss and study the observations submitted in FY 2016’s external auditors re-
port;

•	 Approve internal auditing schemes for different company departments;

•	 Recommend hiring new external auditors for the Company in compliance with ar-
ticle 3-4-6 of Module 5 – Securities Activities and Registered Persons which states 
that each registered auditor shall not review or audit for any client for a period 
exceeding four consecutive financial years unless the Client is under liquidation. 
The term shall be calculated as of the date of registration in the Auditors’ register 
with the Capital Markets Authority;

•	 Review and approve Internal Control Review (ICR) report for FY 2016 that was 
prepared by Baker Tilly and submitted with the Capital Markets Authority, and au-
thorize the internal auditor to follow-up and resolve observations;

•	 Review the Company’s Capital Market Authority’s inspection report and recom-
mend mitigating its observations;

•	 Review internal auditing reports prepared in FY 2017 for all Company’s depart-
ments and related observations, authorizing the Company’s internal auditor and 
compliance officer to follow-up on mitigating them.

Audit Committee Report FY 2017
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Integrity of Financial Reporting

The Audit Committee carries out its duty in reviewing and supervising the external 
auditors’ reports regarding the quarterly and annual financial statements before they 
are presented to the Board in order to ensure the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and independence and integrity of the external auditors whose opinion 
and reports shall remain independent and should be included into the Company’s 
annual report.

Regulatory Compliance

In accordance with the Executive Regulations of the Law 7/2010 and amendments 
thereto issued by Capital Markets Authority, the Audit Committee had taken the nec-
essary actions to implement the new instructions of corporate governance. Such ac-
tions included the existing audit procedures, preparation of the Committee’s minutes, 
resolutions and agenda. Also, the committee confirms that the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management must submit clear declarations in writing regarding the in-
tegrity the Company’s annual financial statements and the other reports regarding 
the Company’s activities. They also undertake and declare that the aforementioned 
report covers all of the Company’s financial aspects and operating results, and that 
such reports are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

In conclusion, the Audit Committee believes that its follow up, supervision and re-
view of the auditors’ reports and internal control systems prove that Safat Investment 
Company has a sound and appropriate internal control systems, and that the Compa-
ny is making a good progress to enhance efficiency of its systems designed to iden-
tify risks and ensure compliance with the regulations promulgated by the regulatory 
authorities in the State of Kuwait.

Chairman of Audit Committee
Fahad Abdul Rahman Al Mukhaizim
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We, the chairman and members of the Board of Directors of Al-Safat Investment 
Company KSC, hereby assure the accuracy and integrity of the financial statements 
as of 31 December 2017 except omission and error, and that the financial reports of 
the company have been presented fairly, properly and according to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards applicable in the State of Kuwait according to such 
information and reports as have been received by us from the Executive manage-
ment, auditors and that due care has been made to verify the integrity and accuracy 
of those reports.

Chairman
Abdullah Hamad AlTerkait

Vice-Chairman
Fahad Abdul Rahman 

Al Mukhaizim

Board Member 
Abdul Muhsen Suliman 

Al Meshan

Board Member 
Naser Bader 
Al Sharhan

Board Member 
Dr. Anwar Ali 

Al Naqi,

Board Member 
Mishaal Ahmed 

Al Jareki

Board Member 
Abdul Razzaq Zaid Al 

Dhubayan

Board of Directors’ Undertaking
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To Chairman and Members of the Board of Directors,

With reference to the above-mentioned subject, and in accordance with the require-
ments of the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority, we assure that the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of Al-Safat Investment Company KSC, the parent company and its 
subsidiary companies for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, are presented 
in a sound and fair manner except omission and error, that they show all the Finan-
cial aspects of the company in terms of operating data and results, and have been 
prepared according to the International Financial Reports Standards as approved by 
the Kuwaiti Capital Markets Authority.

Chief Executive Officer
Abdul Muhsen Suliman 

Al Meshan

Executive Vice President
Ahmed Fathy 

Abouzeid

Acting Finance Manager
Herald Leo 
Fernandes

Executive Management’s Undertaking



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 201734

Shariah Audit Report FY 2017
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Shariah External Audit Report FY 2017
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Consolidated Financial Statements 
FY 2017
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Independent auditors’ report 

The Shareholders of 
Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C.(Closed)
State of Kuwait 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) (“the 
Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at            31 December 2017 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as applied in State of Kuwait.  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the State of Kuwait, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the (IESBA Code). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Emphasis of matter 
Without qualifying our opinion mentioned above, we draw attention to note 34 which states that the Group has 
recorded past due wakalas amounted to KD 20,999,424 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: KD 21,322,928). 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs as applied in Kuwait and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.  

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

Al Shaheed Tower, 6th Floor 
Khaled Ben Al Waleed Street, Sharq 
P.O. Box 25578, Safat 13116 
Kuwait 
Tel: +965 2242 6999 
Fax: +965 2240 1666 
www.bdointernational.com

AL-SOOR Certified Public Accountants 

Qibla - Block 13 - AI-Soor Street AI-Hilaliya 
bldg.- 5th Floor P.O.Box:6910- Salmiya 22080 
Kuwait 
Tel -(+965) 2246 5816
Fax: (+965) 2246 5817
www.alsoorcpa.com
www.ggi.com
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Independent auditors’ report (continued) 

The Shareholders of 
Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C.(Closed)
State of Kuwait 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with Those Charged with Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated 
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to 
these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that, we obtained all the 
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its executive 
regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, 
as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of 
the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its executive regulations, as amended, or of the Parent Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 
December 2017, that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial 
position. 
We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any violations of the provisions 
of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organization of 
banking business, and its related regulations, or of the provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital 
Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2017 that might have had a 
material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial position. 

Khaled H. AL-Ahmad- CPA Faisal Saqer Al Saqer 
License No. 173 – “A” Licence No. 172-A 
AL-Soor Certified Public Accountants BDO Al Nisf & Partners 
GGI Independent Member-Switzerland

Kuwait: 21 February 2018       
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Independent auditors’ report (continued) 

The Shareholders of 
Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C.(Closed)
State of Kuwait 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with Those Charged with Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated 
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to 
these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that, we obtained all the 
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its executive 
regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, 
as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of 
the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its executive regulations, as amended, or of the Parent Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 
December 2017, that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial 
position. 
We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any violations of the provisions 
of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organization of 
banking business, and its related regulations, or of the provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital 
Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2017 that might have had a 
material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial position. 

Khaled H. AL-Ahmad- CPA Faisal Saqer Al Saqer 
License No. 173 – “A” Licence No. 172-A 
AL-Soor Certified Public Accountants BDO Al Nisf & Partners 
GGI Independent Member-Switzerland

Kuwait: 21 February 2018       
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Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
State of Kuwait

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2017 

3

Notes 2017  2016 
Assets KD  KD 

   
Property, plant and equipment 4 6,615,355 6,031,604
Right of use property 5 18,962,370 11,612,034
Goodwill 6 1,550,265 1,550,265
Intangible assets  14,665 -
Investment in associates 7 1,229,514 5,968,042
Available for sale investments 8 14,379,149 20,910,120
Inventory 886,556 85,545
Accounts receivable and other assets 9 3,157,001 2,237,896
Due from related parties 10 573,893 307,897 
Wakala receivables and Islamic finance 11 - 201,797 
Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss 12 3,179,992 2,072,879
Term deposits 13 235,000 -
Cash and cash equivalent 14 4,910,945 8,933,062

55,694,705 59,911,141
Assets held for sale and assets related to discontinued operation 15 1,285,490 276,861 
Total assets 56,980,195 60,188,002

Equity and liabilities 
Equity
Share capital  16 25,693,940 25,693,940
Share premium 17 259,677 259,677 
Statutory reserve 18 388,834 284,800 
Voluntary reserve 19 388,834 284,800 
Treasury shares 20 (307,393) (307,393)
Treasury shares reserve 615,002 615,002 
Fair value reserve (6,585,690) 5,362,835
Foreign currency translation reserve (486,159) (467,827)
Retained earnings  2,969,835 2,149,778
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 22,936,880 33,875,612
Non-controlling interests 8,640,138 2,529,199
Total equity 31,577,018 36,404,811

Liabilities 
Provision for staff indemnity 866,039 509,159 
Wakala investment  21 20,999,424 21,322,928
Accounts payable and other liabilities 22 2,903,269 1,935,577
Due to related parties 10 1,000 15,527
Notes payable 7,379 -
Due to banks 14 54,981 -

24,832,092 23,783,191
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 15 571,085 -
Total Liabilities 25,403,177 23,783,191
Total equity and liabilities 56,980,195 60,188,002

________________________      ______________________________  
Abdullah Hamed Al-Terkait       Fahad Abdulrahman Al-Mukhaizim   
Chairman         Vice Chairman      

The notes on pages 8 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 December 2017
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Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
State of Kuwait

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

4

Notes 2017 2016 
KD  KD 

Investment Activities 
Income from Islamic deposits 117,259 127,788 
Dividend income 650,917 598,968 
Income from portfolio and asset management 48,043 375,389 
Realized gain / (loss) on sale of investment at fair value through statement of profit 
or loss  17,308  (32,871) 
Unrealized loss on investment at fair value through statement of  profit or loss  (493,907) (58,416)
Realized loss on sale of available for sale investments - (173,005)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiary 3.2 2,784,366 1,796,342
Gain / (loss) on sale of property and equipment 3,843 (45,948)
Group's share of results of associates  7 (375,932) (100,279)
(Loss) / gain on sale of assets held for sale 15 (9,142) 160,333 
Net rental gain from right of use property 23 12,428 61,967
Fee income 35,240 173,121 
(Provisions) / Reversal of provisions  24 (173,481) 1,356,514
Impairment losses 25 (346,727) (52,687)
Gain / (loss) on foreign currency exchange  294,605 (1,956,349)
Other income 97,307 49,786
Total profit from investment activities  2,662,127  2,280,653 

    
Trading Activities 
Revenue from trading activities  2,475,972  2,361,436 
Cost of revenue from trading activities  (2,118,206)  (1,793,372) 
Total profits from trading activities 357,766 568,064 

3,019,893 2,848,717
Expenses 
General and administrative expenses 26 (2,280,190) (1,884,679)
Selling and distribution expenses  (125,348) -
Profit for the year before Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of 
Sciences (“KFAS”), Zakat and Board of Directors’ remuneration 614,355 964,038 
KFAS (5,110) (8,676)
Zakat (7,100) -
Board of Directors’ remuneration 30 - (42,000)
Profit for the year 602,145 913,362 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 1,028,125 844,357 
Non-controlling interests (425,980) 69,005

602,145 913,362 

Earnings per share (Basic and diluted) attributable to owners of the 
Parent Company (fils) 27 4.01 3.29

The notes on pages 8 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2017



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 2017 41

Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
State of Kuwait

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

5

Note 2017 2016 
KD  KD 

   
Profit for the year  602,145  913,362 

    
Other comprehensive income items:     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss     
Net unrealized (loss) / gain on available for sale investments   (12,275,043)  287,689 
Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale of available 
for sale investments  -  173,005 
Fair value reserve of an associate  (19,859)  3,225 
Impairment of available for sale investments 25 346,727  29,189 
Exchange differences on translating foreign currency  (11,825)  (631,508) 
Exchange differences on translating foreign currency of associate  (350)  4,372 
Other comprehensive loss  (11,960,350)  (134,028) 
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year  (11,358,205)  779,334 

    
Attributable to:     
Owners of the Parent Company  (10,938,732)  963,180 
Non-controlling interests  (419,473)  (183,846) 

 (11,358,205)  779,334 

The notes on pages 8 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Notes 2017  2016
KD  KD

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit for the year  602,145 913,362
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 4 336,327 182,294
Amortisation of right of use property 5 859,455 861,782
Group's share of results of associates  7 375,932 100,279
Income from Islamic deposits (117,259) (127,788)
Dividend Income (650,917) (598,968)
Realized loss on sale of available for sale investments - 173,005
Realized (gain) / loss on investment at fair value through statement of profit or loss (17,308) 32,871
Unrealized loss on investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss 493,907 58,416
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiary 3.2 (2,784,366) (1,796,342)
Loss / (gain) on sale of assets held for sale 9,142 (160,333)
Provisions / (reversal of provisions) 24 173,481 (1,356,514)
Impairment losses 25 346,727 52,687
Provision for staff indemnity 183,781 95,094
(Gain) / loss on sale of property and equipment (3,843) 45,948
Amortization of intangible assets  933 -
Currency exchange (gain) / loss on wakala investment (323,504) 180,581

(515,367) (1,343,626)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss (432,871) 3,139,124
Accounts receivable and other assets (8,321) 442,391
Inventory 163,286 (18,238)
Wakala receivables and Islamic finance 493,750 556,000
Due from related parties 269,906 (293,621)
Due to related party (15,652) 15,527
Accounts payable and other liabilities 236,339 (982,432)
Cash generated from operations 191,070 1,515,125
Staff indemnity paid (70,558) (38,914)
Net cash from operating activities 120,512 1,476,211

Cash flows from investing activities 
Net (purchase) / proceeds from disposal of available for sale investments (1,507,200) 3,192,909
Net proceed from sale of asset held for sale - 960,333
Purchase of right of use  5 (1,900,000) -
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment 4 (136,510) (102,749)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7,179 123,712
Purchase of intangible assets  (5,938) -
Purchase of subsidiary 3.2 (1,548,572) (877,050)
Term deposits 13 (235,000) -
Cash from purchase of a subsidiary 3.2 855,057 6,564
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (45,458) (122,805)
Income received from Islamic deposits  117,259 127,788
Dividend income received 194,194 157,597
Net cash (used in) / from investing activities (4,204,989) 3,466,299
Cash flows from financing activities 
Treasury shares - (47,716)
Notes payable 7,379 -
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 7,379 (47,716)
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalent (4,077,098) 4,894,794
Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of the year 8,933,062 4,038,268
Cash and cash equivalent at end of the year                                           14 4,855,964 8,933,062

The notes on pages 8 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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1. General information 

Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) ("the parent company") incorporated on 15 September 
1983. The parent company shares was listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange on 21 November 2005 and is 
governed under the supervision of the Capital Market Authority and Central Bank of Kuwait. The company 
has been cancelled from trading on the Kuwait Stock Exchange on 13 March 2013. 

The group comprises the parent company and its subsidiaries. Details of the subsidiaries are set out in note 
3.2. 

The purposes which the company was incorporated and its activities are as follows: 

1. Producing various chemical products and marketing them locally and abroad. 
2. Investing in real estate, industrial, agricultural and other economic sectors through participating the 

incorporation of specialized companies or acquiring shares or bonds in these companies in various 
sectors.

3. Participating in the incorporation or partially acquiring companies in various sectors. 
4. Managing funds of private and public institutions and investing these funds in various economic 

sectors.
5. Providing and preparing technical consultations, economic, valuation, feasibility studies for investment 

project and preparing necessary studies for those establishments and companies. 
6. Mediation in lending and borrowing operations. 
7. Acting as bond issuance managers for bonds issued by companies or agencies and investment trustee. 
8. Financing and mediating international commercial transactions. 
9. Providing loans to others taking into consideration safe principles in extending loans and the 

continuation of safety for financial position of the company as per rules and regulation of Central Bank 
of Kuwait. 

10. To carry out securities trading transaction including buying and selling stocks and bonds of companies 
and local and international governmental agencies. 

11. Performing all services contributing to development and supporting the ability of stock market and 
cash liquidity in Kuwait and satisfying needs as permitted by law and policies and procedures issued 
by Central Bank of Kuwait. 

12. Establishing and managing investment funds in its varied forms as permitted by law. The company is 
allowed to have interest or to participate, in any form, with agents performing similar activities or 
cooperate for realizing its purpose in Kuwait or abroad and it can acquire or join these agents. 

13. Managing activities related to review and supervision of group investment systems “Investment 
Manager”. 

In all cases, the company is required to conduct all its activities in accordance with Islamic Sharia Laws. The 
company is not allowed, under any circumstances, to conduct any of its activities mentioned above in a way 
that exposes the company, direct or indirect, to conduct its activities contrary to Islamic Sharia.  

 The address of the parent company’s registered office is Al-Safat Group Headquarters, Hawalli, Beirut 
Street, Opposite to Al-Qadessya Club – Floor 14, P.O. Box 20133, Al Safat 13062, State of Kuwait. 

The consolidated financial statements of Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
(the group) for the year ended 31 December 2017 were authorized for issue by the parent company’s board 
of directors on 21 February 2018 and are subject to the approval of the Annual General Assembly of the 
shareholders. The shareholders of the parent company have the power to amend these consolidated 
financial statements at the Annual General Assembly. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)  

a) New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2017 

The accounting policies applied by the Group are consistent with those used in the previous year except 
for the changes due to implementation of the following new and amended International Financial 
Reporting Standards: 

Amendment to IAS 7 – Disclosure Initiative 
The amendment to this standard which is effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2017 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liability arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash 
flows and non-cash changes, early application of this amendment is permitted. 
These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses 
The amendments to this standard which are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2017 clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of 
taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary 
difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future 
taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some 
assets for more than their carrying amount. 
These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS – 2014 – 2016 Cycle 

Amendments to IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities 
The amendments to this standard which are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2017 clarify that an entity need not provide summarized financial information for 
interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (or included in a disposal group) that are classified 
as held for sale. 
These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not effective

The following new and amended IASB Standards have been issued but are not yet effective, and have 
not been adopted by the Group:  

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 
The standard, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, replaces the existing 
guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 specifies how an 
entity should classify and measure its financial instruments and includes a new expected credit loss 
model for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting 
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. 
The directors of the Parent Company anticipate that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may not have 
a material impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities. 
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the Group 
undertakes a detailed review. 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers 
The standard, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, establishes a 
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. It 
replaces the following existing standards and interpretations upon its effective date:  
 IAS 18 – Revenue,  
 IAS 11 – Construction Contracts,  
 IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programs, 
 IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate,  
 IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from Customers, and, 
 SIC 31 – Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the 
required effective date. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
(continued)
b) Standards and interpretations issued but not effective (continued)

IFRS 16 - Leases 
This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This standard 
will be replacing IAS 17 "Leases" and will require lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17 with limited exceptions for low-
value assets and short term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a 
liability to make lease payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during 
the lease term. 

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact to the Group. 

Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, the amendments 
address three main areas:
 The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment 

transaction 
 The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding 

tax obligations 
 The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction 

changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. 

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact to the Group. 

Amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment Property 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier 
application permitted. The amendments clarify that a transfer to / from, investment property necessitates 
an assessment of whether a property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property, 
supported by observable evidence that a change in use has occurred. The amendments further clarify 
that situations other than the ones listed in IAS 40 may evidence a change in use, and that a change in 
use is possible for properties under construction (i.e. a change in use is not limited to completed 
properties). 

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact to the Group. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS – 2014 – 2016 Cycle 

These annual improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. They include: 

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 

The amendments delete certain short-term exemptions in IFRS 1 because the reporting period to which 
the exemptions applied have already passed. As such, these exemptions are no longer applicable. 

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The amendments clarify that the option for a venture capital organization and other similar entities to 
measure investments in associates and joint ventures at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL) is 
available separately for each associate or joint venture, and that election should be made at initial 
recognition of the associate or joint venture. 

In respect of the option for an entity that is not an investment entity (IE)  to retain the fair value 
measurement applied by its associates and joint ventures that are IEs when applying the equity method, 
the amendments make a similar clarification that this choice is available for each IE  associate or IE 
joint venture.  

The amendments apply retrospectively with earlier application permitted. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
(continued)
b) Standards and interpretations issued but not effective (continued)

IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier 
application permitted. Entities can apply the Interpretation either retrospectively or prospectively. 
Specific transition provisions apply to prospective application. 

IFRIC 22 addresses how to determine the ‘date of transaction’ for the purpose of determining the 
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of an asset, expense or income, when consideration for that 
item has been paid or received in advance in a foreign currency which resulted in the recognition of a 
non-monetary liability (for example, a non-refundable deposit or deferred revenue). 

The Interpretation specifies that the date of transaction is the date on which the entity initially 
recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of 
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Interpretation requires 
an entity to determine the date of transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. 

3. Significant accounting policies 

3.1 Basis of preparation and compliance statement
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the 
IASB, as modified for use by the Government of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the 
Central Bank of Kuwait. These regulations require adoption of all IFRSs except for the IAS 39 requirement 
for collective impairment provision, which has been replaced by the CBK’s requirement for a minimum 
general provision of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities. These rates are applied on the 
net increase in facilities, net of certain restricted categories of collateral, during the reporting period. 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) and are prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except for available for sale investments and investments at fair value through 
statement of profit or loss that are stated at fair value. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except for those 
disclosed in note 2. 

3.2 Basis of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements comprise of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries drawn up to 31 
December 2017.  

Where the Parent Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Parent 
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: 
 -  power over the investee; 
 -  exposure to variable returns from the investee; and 
 -  the ability of the investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. 

Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these 
elements of control. 
De-facto control exists in situations where the Parent Company has the practical ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In determining whether 
de-facto control exists the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including: 
-  The size of the Parent Company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other parties 

who   hold voting rights; 
   -  Substantive potential voting rights held by the Parent Company and by other parties; 

 -  Other contractual arrangements; and 
 -  Historic patterns in voting attendance. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control effectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases. The financial statements of 
the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits or losses and 
unrealized profits and losses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Amounts reported in the financial 
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group. 
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the 
Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of amount of those interests at the date of original 
business combination and the non-controlling entity’s share of changes in equity since the date of the 
combination. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in 
a deficit balance.  
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. For purchases from non-controlling interests, 
the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net 
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals of non-controlling interests are 
also recorded in equity. 
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, 
with the change in carrying amount recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities (i.e. reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable IFRSs). 
The consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries: 

D
u
ring the year, the Group received dividends in the amount of KD 161,937 from Al-Assriya Printing Press 
Publishing and Distribution Company W.L.L. (indirect subsidiary company) and The Roots Brokerage – 
Egypt.

 During the year, one of group’s subsidiaries (Safat Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed)) increased its share 
in its subsidiary company (Al-Ezdehar Real Estate Tourism Company K.S.C. (Closed)) from 56.912% to 
77.468%, as a result of acquisition of subsidiary company (see below) which resulted in decrease in non-
controlling interest amounting to KD 917,021 

Name of subsidiary
Principal 
activity

Place of 
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting power 

held  
Net asset  

value
   31 December  31 December 
   2017 2016  2017 2016
   KD KD

Al Safat Holding 
Company 
K.S.C.(Closed)

Business
management Kuwait 100% 100% 10,766,078 9,086,226

Safat House for General 
Trading Company 
W.L.L.

General 
Trading Kuwait 80% 80% 82,108 83,708

Al Safat for Consultancy 
K.S.C. (Closed) Consultancy Kuwait 96% 96% 113,131 177,384

Dar Al Safat General 
Trading Company 
W.L.L.

General 
Trading Kuwait 100% 100% 212,332 252,562

The Roots Brokerage – 
Egypt Services Egypt 60% 60% 249,229 282,380

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Certain shares / percentage relating to some subsidiaries are registered in the names of others who keep 
them as custodian owners on behalf of and in favour of the Group. Waiver letters based on power of 
attorneys and written undertakings were obtained from custodian owners for the Group's benefit. 
Non-controlling interests are immaterial to the Group's subsidiaries except Safat Industries Holding 
Company, a subsidiary of Safat Holding Company, which was acquired on 1 July 2017 as described in the 
paragraph below. 
On 1 July 2017, Al Safat Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) (100% subsidiary) acquired 38.44% of Safat 
Industries Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) making the total shareholding of the company at  63.79% 
which resulted in the reclassification from investments in associate to consolidated subsidiary. During the 
year, the Group carried out a Purchase Price Allocation exercise for the acquisition of shares in Safat 
Industries Holding Company K.S.C. (Holding) (indirect subsidiary company) that resulted in gain on 
bargain purchase in the amount of KD 2,784,366 which is included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.
The following is a summary of the financial information of the subsidiary as at 1 July 2017: 

Carrying
values

 Fair  
values 

 KD  KD 
Assets 
Property, plant and equipment (notes 4) 388,311  825,933
Goodwill 1,863,251  -
Intangible assets 9,660  9,660
Right of use (note 5) -  6,309,791
Investment in associate 2,474,102  2,474,102
Available for sale investment 1,098,873  1,098,873
Inventory 1,101,297  1,101,297
Debtors and debit balances  651,422  651,422
Due from related party 535,902  535,902
Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss 992,148  992,148
Cash and cash equivalents 908,755  908,755
Asset held for sale and assets related to discontinued 
operation 129,518  129,518

Liabilities 
Provision for staff indemnity (243,657) (243,657)
Creditors and credit balances  (581,021) (581,021)
Due to related parties (1,125) (1,125)
Due to banks (53,698) (53,698)
Liability related to asset held for sale (566,583) (566,583)
 8,707,155  13,591,317
Less: Non-controlling interest (1,186,550) (7,492,891)
Net identifiable assets        7,520,605  6,098,426   

Consideration exchanged
Transferred from associate company (1,765,488)
Cash  (1,548,572)
Total consideration exchanged (3,314,060)
Gain on bargain purchased  2,784,366

Cash and cash equivalent of acquisition of indirect 
subsidiary
Cash and bank balances  908,755  -
Due to bank (53,698)  -
 855,057  -

All the subsidiaries financial statements (except Al Safat for Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Dar Al Safat  
General Trading Company W.L.L.) were consolidated based on management accounts prepared by the 
parent company for the year ended 31 December 2017, since the dates of financial statements of some 
companies are different from that of the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.3 Business combinations 
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the 
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred or assumed by 
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for 
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally expensed as incurred. At the acquisition 
date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities that meet the 
conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. 
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its 
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. 
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments 
are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period 
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement 
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date. 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability 
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest 
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.  
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognize amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.   
If the initial accounting for business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or 
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date. 
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) 
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Amounts 
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss where such 
treatment would be appropriate if that interest was disposed of. 

3.4 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment 
loss. Depreciation is calculated based on the estimated useful lives of the applicable assets on a straight-line 
basis commencing when the assets are ready for their intended use.  
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each year end, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on prospective basis. Maintenance and repairs, 
replacements and improvements of minor importance are expensed as incurred. 
Significant improvements and replacements of assets are capitalized. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period in which they occur. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.5 Rights of use of property 
Leasehold rights acquired are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
leasehold rights are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. 

Leasehold rights are amortized over their useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the leasehold rights may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization 
method for leasehold rights is reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted 
for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortization expense on leasehold rights is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 

The right of use is considered unlimited due to prevailing market norms that support its renewal on an 
ongoing basis and accordingly, its cost is not amortized. 

The useful life of the right of use is reviewed to ensure that there are no events or circumstances that 
determine its useful life. If such events or circumstances are established, the carrying amount of the right of 
use is amortized from the date of the events and the circumstances that led to the determination of its useful 
life. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of use right of use are measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the right and are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

3.6 Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group's interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity 
recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group's cash-generating units 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 
been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount 
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in 
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 
the determination of the statement of profit or loss on disposal.  

The group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described at note 3.7 below.  

3.7 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life that are separately acquired and acquired are stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses or impairment losses, if any. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the expected useful life. 

The useful life and amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each financial year. The change in 
estimates is accounted for from the beginning of the financial year in which the change occurs. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses, if any. 

Intangible assets are written off on disposal or when there is no future benefit from the use. The gain or loss 
on sale is measured as the difference between net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset sold 
and subsequently recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.8 Investment in associate 
An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence that is neither a subsidiary  nor an 
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.  

The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which 
case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the group’s share of 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the group’s share of 
losses of an associate exceeds the group’s interest in that associate, the group discontinues recognizing its 
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as 
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the group's share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of 
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment 
loss with respect to the group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 
costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognized in the group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in 
the associate that are not related to the group. 

The associate’s financial statements are prepared either to the parent company’s reporting date or to a date 
not earlier than three months of the parent company’s reporting date. Amounts reported in the financial 
statements of associates have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 
policies adopted by the group. Where practicable, adjustments are made for the effect of significant 
transactions or other events that occurred between the reporting date of the associates and the parent 
company’s reporting date. 

3.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
At each financial position date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.10 Financial assets 
Investments are recognized and derecognized on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is 
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the 
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial 
assets classified as at fair value through statement of profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair 
value. 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “available for sale investments”, 
“debtors and other debit balances”, “due from related parties”, “wakala receivables and Islamic finance”, 
“investment at fair value through profit and loss”, “Term deposits” and “cash and cash equivalent”. The 
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. 

Effective profit rate method 
The effective profit rate is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest over the relevant period. The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Available for sale investments 
Available for sale investments are initially measured at cost which is the fair value of consideration given. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, available for sale investments are measured at fair value. For investments 
traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to the last quoted bid price at 
the close of business on the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of fair value is determined by 
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is based on 
the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the investment. Investments whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less any impairment loss. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of available for sale investments are recognized directly 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve until the investment is sold, 
collected, or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the fair value reserve is reclassified to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Foreign exchange gains and losses on 
monetary assets, are recognized directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Dividends on available for sale equity instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss when the group’s right to receive the dividends is established. 

Receivables 
Receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective profit rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss when there is objective evidence the asset is 
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective rate computed at initial 
recognition. 

Wakala receivables 
Wakala receivable represents financial assets originated by the group and invested with third parties for 
onward deals by those parties in various Islamic financial products, and are carried at amortised cost less 
allowance for doubtful debts. 

Specific provisions are calculated on the losses of wakalas originated by the group against credit risks. The 
specific provision is made for wakala originated by the group against the credit risks due to impairment of 
wakalas, in case there is an objective evidence of non-collection of the due amount. 

The provision amount is the difference between the carrying value of wakala and the recoverable amount, 
which is the present value of the expected future cash flows including the amounts recoverable from 
collaterals and assets pledged in favour of the group, discounted by the effective profit rate prevailing in the 
market for variable rate. Provision for impairment loss in wakala is charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.10 Financial assets (continued) 

Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:  
(i) It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or 
(ii) It is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and 

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
(iii)  It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.  

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:  
(i) Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 

that would otherwise arise; or  
(ii) The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group's 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or  

(iii) It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or 
liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.  

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 31 (c).  

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank balances and short term deposits with three month 
maturity from deposit date. 

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each statement of 
financial position date. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence 
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted. 
For financial assets classified as available for sale investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 
For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 90 days, as 
well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest [profit] rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the 
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of receivables, where the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.10 Financial assets (continued) 
When an available for sale investment is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss in the 
period. 
With the exception of available for sale investments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised. 
In respect of available for sale investments, impairment losses previously recognised through the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss are not reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Derecognition of financial assets 
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

3.11 Financial liabilities 
The group’s financial liabilities include wakala investments, accounts payables and other liabilities, notes 
payable, and due to banks and due to related parties. 

Wakala payables 
Wakala payables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions cost incurred. Wakala payables 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost, any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the 
payables using the effective cost of payables.  

Trade payables 
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortized cost any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs); and the 
recoverable amount is recognized in the consolidated statement of income over the term of the borrowings 
using the effective yield method. 

Offset 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal rights to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 

3.12 Inventories 
Inventories are held at lower of cost and net realizable value. Raw material cost is determined on a weighted 
average cost basis. The cost of finished goods and goods in process includes direct materials, direct labor, 
fixed and variable manufacturing overhead, and other costs incurred in bringing inventories to their present 
location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices less all the estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.13 Assets held for sale 
Assets and disposal groups are classified as assets held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met 
only when the sale is highly probable and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be 
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 

Assets classified as non-current asset held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

3.14 Related parties 
Related parties are senior shareholders of the Group, directors, key management personnel, their immediate 
family members and companies controlled or controlled by the parent company. In the normal course of 
business and with the approval of the Group's management, transactions were made with those related 
parties. 

3.15 Treasury shares 
Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own shares that have been issued, subsequently reacquired 
by the Parent Company and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the 
cost method. Under the cost method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a 
contra equity account. When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in 
equity               (treasury shares reserve) which is not distributable. Any realized losses are charged to the 
same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained 
earnings then reserves. Gains realized subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any 
previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the gain on sale of treasury shares 
account. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of 
treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of 
treasury shares. 

3.16 Provisions 
A provision is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

3.17 Provision for staff indemnity 
Provision is made for amounts payable to employees under the Kuwaiti Labour Law and employment 
contracts. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result of 
involuntary termination on the financial position date, and approximates the present value of the final 
obligation. 

3.18 Foreign currency translation 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinar, which is also the functional currency 
of the Parent Company. 

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in currencies other than the group’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions. At each consolidated statement of financial 
position date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on 
the consolidated statement of financial position date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year. Exchange differences arising 
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss for the year except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in 
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 
also recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

3.18 Foreign currency translation (continued) 
Group companies 
The assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are expressed in KD using exchange rates 
prevailing at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Income and expense items are translated 
into the group’s presentation currency at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
recognised in the currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation the cumulative 
translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to statement of profit or loss and recognised as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a 
foreign entity have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the 
closing rate.       

3.19 Revenue recognition 
 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and is reduced by the 

estimated amounts of returns from customers, discounts and other similar deductions. 
 Income from Islamic deposits is recognised based on estimation of expected income and it is 

distributed on accrual basis.
 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  
 Portfolio management fees and commission income is recognised when earned in accordance with 

related contract terms.  
 Fee income is recognised when earned in accordance with related contract terms. 

3.20 Finance costs 
Finance costs are calculated on the accrual basis and are recognized in the consolidated statement  of profit 
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.  

3.21 Fiduciary assets 
Assets held in trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the group and accordingly they are not 
included in these consolidated financial statements. 

3.22 Dividends 
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the shareholders. 

3.23 Share of Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Science and Zakat 
Kuwait Foundation for Practical Advancement and Zakat The fees / taxes imposed on the parent company 
are fixed at profit for the year less deductible deductions in accordance with the applicable financial laws in 
this regard in the State of Kuwait. In accordance with the current tax / tax laws, the cumulative loss is not 
permitted and there are no material differences between the tax / liability bases of the assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for the purposes of the financial statements. 

Shares  Tax / ratio
1% of net profit less deductible deductions Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Science
1% of net profit less deductible deductions Zakat 
`

3.24 Segment information 
The segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
earns revenue and incurs costs. The operating segments used by the Group's management to allocate and 
assesses performance are consistent with the internal report provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker. The operating segment exhibiting similar economic characteristics product and services, class of 
customers where appropriate are aggregated and reported as reportable segments. 

3.25 Contingent liabilities and assets 
A contingent liability is disclosed when there is a possible obligation to be confined by a future event that is 
outside the contract of the group or where a present obligation may, require an outflow of economic 
resources.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

3.26 Significant accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty     
Accounting judgements 
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has used judgements and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The most 
significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows: 
Impairment of investments 
The group treats available for sale investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost.  The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires 
significant judgement.  In addition, the group also evaluates among other factors, normal volatility in the 
share price for quoted investments and the future discounted cash flows for unquoted investments.   
Classification of investments
Management decides on acquisition of an investment whether it should be classified as held for trading, at 
fair value through statement of profit or loss, available for sale or held to maturity investments. 
Classification of investments as investment at fair value through statement of profit or loss depends on how 
management monitor the performance of these investments. When they are not classified as held for trading 
but have readily available reliable fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of statement 
of income in the management accounts, they are classified as at fair value through statement of profit or 
loss.  All other investments are classified as available for sale or as held to maturity. 
The useful life of tangible assets
The Group retains the estimated useful life at which tangible assets are depreciated. The Group's 
management is satisfied that the estimated useful lives of these assets are appropriate. 
Impairment of associates 
Determining whether the carrying value of the associate that includes goodwill is impaired requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value 
in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 
Impairment of goodwill 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 
of the "value in use" of the asset or the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating 
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset or 
cash generating unit and also choose an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 
the cash flows. 
Impairment of inventory
The Group reviews receivables and other assets on a periodic basis to assess any indicators of impairment 
and whether the provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income. Such 
estimates are necessary on the basis of several factors that require different degrees of uncertainty and 
therefore the actual results may differ from the estimates resulting in changes to those provisions. 
Impairment of debtors and other receivables   
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. When the goods become obsolete or 
obsolete, their recoverable amount is estimated. For large amounts, estimation is made individually. 
Amounts that are not considered to be significant are assessed collectively and are allocated based on the 
type of inventory and the length of time outstanding according to historical selling rates. 
Estimation uncertainty  
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below: 
Valuation of unquoted equity investments 
 Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following recent arm’s 

length market transactions; 
 Current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
 The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk 

characteristics; or 
 Other valuation models.    
The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires 
significant estimation.
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5. Right of use property 
2017  2016

KD  KD
Cost  
Balance at 31 December 16,761,575 16,761,575
Addition through purchases  1,900,000 -
Additions through business combinations (note 3.2) 6,309,791 -

24,971,366 16,761,575
Accumulated amortization 
Balance at 31 December 5,149,541 4,287,759
Annual amortization 859,455 861,782

6,008,996 5,149,541
Net book value 
31 December 18,962,370 11,612,034

Right of use property as at 31 December 2017 includes payment made and expenses incurred on a Build, 
Operate and Transfer ("B.O.T.") project awarded to the group during the year 2005. The group's B.O.T. 
project is constructed on land leased from a third party for a period of twenty years under a renewable 
usufruct agreement (see note 23).  
Right of use property also includes right of use of land from state of Kuwait for a period of 25 years 
renewable with option to renew. 

6. Goodwill 
Goodwill resulted from acquisition of the following company: 

2017  2016
KD  KD

Al-Assriya Printing Press Publishing and Distribution Company W.L.L.
(indirect subsidiary) 1,550,265 1,550,265

1,500,265 1,550,265

The management of the Group performed assessment of goodwill to determine whether there is impairment 
in value or not based on internal valuation report.  

7. Investment in associates 
The group’s shareholding in associate companies is as follows: 

All above associates are measured using equity method. 
During the year, the Group purchased additional 38.44% shares of Safat Industries Holding Company K.S.C. 
(Closed) making the total shareholding of the Group at 63.79% which required the reclassification from 
investments in associate to consolidated subsidiary (note 3.2). As a result of this transaction Asia Holding 
Company K.S.C. (Holding) has been recorded as investment in associate. 

Associate company name  
Place of 

incorporation

Ownership
interest and 
voting rights Carrying value Activities

2017 2016 2017  2016 
(%) (%) KD KD 

Kuwait Medical Center 
Holding Company K.S.C. 
(Closed) 

Kuwait - 13.72 -  3,825,702 Business 
Management 

Dana Al-Safat Real Estate 
Company K.S.C. (Closed) 

Kuwait 24.09 24.09 1  1 Real Estate

Al-Safat Media for Advertising  
& Publicity  K.S.C. (Closed ) 

Kuwait 27.00 27.00 1  1 Advertising 
and 
Promotion 

Asia Holding Company K.S.C. 
(Holding) 

Kuwait 21.7 - 1,229,512  - Business
Management 

Safat Industries Holding 
Company K.S.C. (Holding) 

Kuwait - 25.35 -  2,142,338 Business 
Management 

1,229,514  5,968,042 
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7. Investment in associates (continued) 

During the year, the Group lost significant influence over Kuwait Medical Center Holding Company K.S.C. 
(Holding). As a result, the Group reclassified the investment in that company to available-for-sale 
investments. 

Certain shares relating to some associates are registered in the names of others who keep them as custodian 
owners on behalf of the Group. Waiver letters based on power of attorneys and written undertakings were 
obtained from custodian owners for the Group's benefit. 

All financial information from associates are based on financial statements as at 31 December 2017. 

Summarized financial statements of the group's associates is set out below: 
   2017   

KD   
Financial position of Asia Holding:    
Total assets 6,838,680   
Total liabilities (31,176)   
Net assets 6,807,504   
Group’s share of net assets of associates 1,229,512   

   

Share of revenues and results in the associate:    
Revenues 10,450   
Net loss (1,487,348)   
Other comprehensive loss for the year (93,132)   
Group’s share of results of associates (375,932)   

The remaining associates are not material to the Group. 

8. Available for sale investments 
2017  2016 

KD  KD 
Quoted Local securities 2,286,929 1,412,494 
Quoted Foreign securities 6,423,995 -
Unquoted Local securities                                        5,398,152 1,158,155 
Unquoted Foreign securities                                        270,073 18,339,471 

14,379,149 20,910,120 

The valuation methods for unquoted securities are disclosed in note (31 c). 

The quoted and unquoted securities include investments with related parties in the amount of KD 2,285,326 
(2016: KD 1,406,653) and KD 4,260,548 (2016: KD 493,476) (note 10). 

As at 31 December 2017, the management carried out a review of the carrying value of its quoted and 
unquoted available for sale investments and determined that an impairment loss has occurred on these assets 
and as a consequence recognized this in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the other 
comprehensive income amounting to KD 346,727 (2016: KD 29,189) (note 25).   

Quoted foreign securities represent shares in Al Qudra Holding Company in the amount of KD 6,423,995 
(2016: KD 18,080,277). Al Qudra Holding shares were listed in Abu Dhabi securities market, the second 
market, in United Arab Emirates on 4 December 2017. The Group management has engaged an independent 
valuer to determine whether there is impairment in value or not. This valuation has resulted that fair value is 
greater than market value. As a result, impairment loss has not been recognized. 

Available for sale investments with a fair value of KD 4,302,409 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: KD 
12,109,091) are pledged against wakala investment (note 21). 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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9. Accounts receivable and other assets 
2017  2016 

KD  KD 
Refundable deposits 17,405 48,569 
Prepaid expenses 287,207 107,723 
Project advance 450,265 450,265 
Provision for project advance (450,265) (450,265) 
Accrued income and dividend 1,292,837 934,735 
Other receivables 9,097,782 8,242,134 
Provision for other receivables and accrued income (7,538,230) (7,095,265) 

3,157,001 2,237,896 

Accrued income and dividend include income from pledge against wakala investment amounting to KD 
1,110,136 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: KD 819,385). 

The movement of provision of other receivable and accrued income is as follows: 

2017  2016 
KD  KD 

Opening balance 7,095,265 6,979,893 
Chargeed for the year (note 24) 196,434 219,370 
Additions through business combination 929,897 -
Provision written off (683,366) (103,998) 
Ending balance 7,538,230 7,095,265 

10. Related parties transactions 

Related parties represent associated companies, major shareholders, directors and executive officers of the 
group, their families and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. All 
related party transactions approximate arms length terms and are approved by the group’s management. 

Balances and transactions between the Parent Company and its subsidiaries, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. The related parties balances and transactions included in the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

2017  2016
KD  KD

Transactions during the year
Key management personnel’s salaries and benefits 138,669 103,870
Associate companies – Management fees 3,970 3,877
Other related parties –  Management fees 8,608 30,205
Committees bonus - 100,000

151,247 237,952
Due from : 
Other related parties 579,122 351,959
Less: provision for associates and other related parties (5,229) (44,062)

573,893 307,897

Available for sale investments (note 8) 6,545,874 1,900,129
Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss (note 12) 1,628,139 1,564,555

Due to:
Other related parties 1,000 15,527

Amounts due from / to related parties do not include any interest and they are due upon demand.
Off-financial position: 
Managed portfolios 10,113,219 15,552,631

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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11. Wakala receivables and Islamic finance 
2017  2016

KD  KD
Wakala receivable  1,167,500  1,167,500 
Proceeds during the year (493,750)  - 
Less: provision for doubtful wakala receivables (see below) (673,750)  (965,703) 

-  201,797

During the year, the parent company received a certified cheque in the amount of KD 493,750 as an 
adjustment to the wakala receivable. The management has approved the settlement and a reversal of 
provision for doubtful wakala amounting to KD 291,953 (2016: KD 248,929) has been recorded (note 24). 

12. Investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss 
2017  2016

KD  KD 
Financial assets 
Quoted investments 
Financial services sector 271,873 114,800 
Banks sector - 155,400 
Real estate sector 347,699 2,985 
Industrial sector 873,263 998,773 
Services sector 189,397 -
Food sector 273,090 343,359 
Oil and gas sector 150,339 143,355 
Communication sector - 32,400 
Technology sector 89,105 138,082

2,194,766 1,929,154
Managed funds 839,597 -
Managed portfolio 145,629 143,725 

3,179,992 2,072,879

Quoted investments and managed funds include investments with related parties in the amount of KD 
1,628,139 (2016: KD 1,564,555) (note 10).  

13. Term deposits
2017  2016

KD  KD 
Term Deposits 235,000 -

The effective yield rate of  term deposits at the reporting date is 1.38% per annum. 

14. Cash and cash equivalent
2017  2016

KD  KD 
Cash on hand 14,591  23,932 
Cash at bank  3,616,789  7,849,336
Short term Islamic deposit  1,279,565  1,059,794

    4,910,945  8,933,062 
   Less: Due to bank (54,981)  -
   Cash and cash equivalent for consolidated statement of cash flow 4,855,964  8,933,062 

The effective yield rate of the short term Islamic deposit is 9% (2016: 5% to 9%) per annum.  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15. Assets held for sale

a) The Group decided on 15 May 2017 to dispose of Safat Holding Company Bahrain B.S.C (Closed) a 
subsidiary of Safat Holding Company (subsidiary company). Negotiations were made with non-related party 
to purchase this activity. Assets and liabilities related to the subsidiary that are expected to be sold within 12 
months were classified as assets and liabilities subject to disposal as discontinued operations, and were 
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position. The final contracts related to selling 
100% holding in Safat Holding Company Bahrain B.S.C. (Closed) at BD 1,100,000 equivalent to KD 
882,799 were signed. 

KD 
   Assets    

Investment in an associate 885,581 
Cash and cash equivalent        3,546 
Assets held for sale    889,127 
Liabilities 
Creditors and other credit balances       4,502 
Liabilities related to assets held for sale        4,502 
Net assets held for sale   884,625 

The summary of the results of operations relating to discontinued operations is as follows: 
2017  2016

KD  KD 
General and administrative expenses (565) -
Other income 1,439 -
Net profit of discontinued operations 874 -

b) During the prior year, the Board of Directors of one of the subsidiaries decided to sell and terminate 
operations at Gulf Powder Coating Manufacturing Co. W.L.L. (an indirect subsidiary). As a result, the assets 
relating to this Company were classified as held for sale and discontinued operations. Due to the 
immateriality of the amounts included in these transactions, the Group has not provided the required 
disclosures in accordance with IFRS 5, but some information has been provided as follows: 

The principal assets and liabilities of Gulf Powder Coating Manufacturing Co. W.L.L classified as held for 
sale are as follows: 

KD  
   Assets    

Inventory 91,879 
Debtors and debit balances 37,629 
Cash and cash equivalent 10 
Assets held for sale 129,518 
Liabilities 
Creditors and other credit balances 346,187 
Due to related parties 217,808 
Indemnity 2,588 
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 566,583 
Net Liabilities held for sale (437,065) 

c) The Group's interest in Dar Al Huda is based on audited financial statements as at 31 December 2017. The 
liquidation of Dar Al Huda Holding Company KSC (Closed) has not been completed until the date of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

2017  2016
KD  KD 

Dar Al Huda  Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) (Under Liquidation) 266,845 276,861 

During the year, the Company realized a loss of KD 10,016 (2016: KD Nil). 

During the prior year, the Group sold right of use land in Sabhan rented from government for KD 960,333 
and recognized a gain of KD 160,333. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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16. Share capital 
2017  2016

KD  KD

The authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital comprise of: 
256,939,400 (2015 : 256,939,400) shares  at a nominal value of 100 fils 
each and all in cash 25,693,940  25,693,940

17. Share premium 
The share premium arises from the excess of the issued share price and the nominal value of the shares. The 
share premium account is not available for distribution.  

18. Statutory reserve 
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company's Articles of Association and 
memorandum, 10% of the net profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, Zakat and Directors’ 
Remuneration is required to be transferred to statutory reserve until the reserve totals 50% of the paid-up 
share capital. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of 
a dividend of 5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for 
the payment of a dividend of that amount.  

19. Voluntary reserve 
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company's Articles of Association and 
memorandum, 10% of the net profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, Zakat and Directors’ 
Remuneration is required to be transferred to voluntary reserve. Such annual transfer can be discontinued by 
a resolution of shareholders in the Annual General Assembly meeting upon recommendation by the Board of 
Directors. There is no restriction on distribution of this reserve.  

20. Treasury shares 
2017  2016

Number of shares (No’s) 803,011 803,011
Percentage of issued shares (%) 0.31 0.31
Cost (KD) 307,393 307,393

These shares were acquired based on an authorization granted to the Board of Directors by the shareholders 
and in accordance with Ministerial Decrees No.10 of 1987 and No. 11 of 1988. Reserves equivalent to the 
cost of treasury shares held are not distributable. 

21. Wakala investment 
The balance wakala investment – Qatar National Bank in the amount of KD 20,999,424 (2016: KD 
21,322,928) represents net amount recorded in Group’s books. Based on independent legal council's opinion, 
the Group stopped on 1 January 2012 recording contracted costs accrued and recorded in the books during 
prior years. The Group also deducted the contracted cost already paid for wakala investment contract from 
the principal of the wakala. A legal case has been filed by the Qatar National Bank against the group to 
recover the due amounts.  
On 27 January 2016, an appeals court judgement No. 2701 / 2013 commercial / 12 was issued which 
obligates the Group to pay amount of 360 Million Qatari Riyals or its equivalent in KD 29,843,424 and 
accrued interest at the rate 12% per annum from 1 June 2010 till full payment. 
Based on independent legal councils’ opinion, the Group management did not record the financial effect of 
this judgement in its consolidated financial statements in the amount of KD 36,021,957 as at balance sheet 
date. This is based on Group having reasons likely to be accepted by the court upon appeal to supreme court, 
which is already filed. It is also likely that the supreme court will accept reasons provided for the 
cancellation of accrued interest, which will reduce obligation significantly, if not eliminate altogether, and 
adjudicate the return of principal only (shares of Al Qudra Holding Company). The financial effect of this 
judgement is to increase accumulated losses as at 31 December 2017 by KD 36,021,957 and increase wakala 
payables by same amount as at that date. 

The effect of this judgement is recorded as part of contingent liabilities of the Group (note 29). The 
consolidated financial statements of the Group do not include any effect relating to settlement of contingent 
liabilities previously stated above. 

On 6 April 2016, the court ordered to temporarily halt (stop) implementation of the appealed judgement 
until decision on appeal. The appeal against the case is still pending before the Court of Cassation, which 
was not resolved until the date of issuing the consolidated financial statements 

Wakala investment is secured by the parent company's investments in available for sale investments with a 
carrying value of KD 4,302,409 (2016: KD 12,109,091) (note 8).  
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22. Accounts payable and other liabilities 
2017  2016

KD  KD 
Trade payables 2,202,007  916,566
Provision for legal cases (note 24) 132,000  466,544 
Accrued expenses 264,161  147,233 
Provision for leave 165,199  143,987 
Dividend payable 36,432  6,707
KFAS 5,983  8,676 
Zakat 33,671  103,996 
Board of Directors’ remuneration -  42,000 
Others  63,816  99,868 

2,903,269  1,935,577 

23. Net rental gain from right of use property 
2017  2016

KD  KD
Rental income from right of use property 1,273,330 1,283,564
Amortisation of right of use property (812,585)  (814,812)
Right of use property expenses (448,317)  (406,785)

12,428  61,967

These represent rental income and related expenses from the right of use property (note 5). 

24.  (Provisions) / reversal of provisions  
2017  2016

KD  KD
Provision for receivables and other assets (note 9) (196,434)  (219,370)
Reversal of provision for associates and related parties -  14,276
Reversal of provision of wakala receivable and Islamic finance (note 11) 291,953  248,929
Provision for legal cases (note 22) (132,000)  (216,544)
Reversal of provision for Bank guarantee on behalf of associate -  1,470,000
Reversal of provision of indemnity -  59,223
Provision for slow moving inventory (137,000)  -

(173,481)  1,356,514

25. Impairment losses    

During the year, the management has carried out impairment testing on a variety of assets to assess the 
recoverability of these assets. Summarized below are the impairment losses recognized as at year end. 

2017  2016
KD  KD

Other debit balances -  23,498
Available for sale investments (note 8) 346,727  29,189

346,727  52,687

26. General and administrative expenses 
2017  2016

KD  KD
Staff costs 1,583,872 1,142,868
Legal and professional fees 116,195 222,200
Rent  7,853 24,914
Depreciation and amortisation 212,907 119,540
Committees bonus - 100,000
Others  359,363 275,157

2,280,190 1,884,679
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27. Earnings per share (Basic and diluted) attributable to owners of the parent company  (fils) 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing profit attributable to owners of the parent 
company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, less treasury shares.  

The Parent Company had no outstanding dilutive potential shares. 

2017  2016
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent company (KD) 1,028,125  844,357
Weighted average number of shares less treasury shares (shares) 256,136,389  256,136,389
Earnings per share (Basic and diluted) (fils) 4.01  3.29

28. Fiduciary assets 

Third party funds managed by the parent company and assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity and 
related liabilities are not treated as the group's assets or liabilities and accordingly are not included in these 
consolidated financial statements. Total fiduciary assets as at the financial position date amounted to KD 
19,305,529 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: KD 46,494,716). 

29. Commitments and contingencies 
2017  2016

KD  KD 
Contracted cost for past due wakalas as at 31 December (note 21) 36,021,957  32,940,507 
Letter of guarantees and letter of credits 210,596  -

36,232,553  32,940,507

Operating lease commitments 
 At 31 December, future minimum lease commitments were as follows:  

2017  2016
KD  KD

Not less than one year 360,000  360,000
Later than one year but not less than five years 1,440,000  1,440,000
More than five years but not less than twenty years 3,000,000  3,360,000

30. Annual general assembly 

The annual general assembly meeting of shareholders held on 14 August 2017 approved the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. It also approved non-distribution of dividend for the 
years then ended. Also, shareholders approved remuneration of Parent Company’s Board of Directors’ for         
KD 42,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

31. Capital management and financial risks 

a. Capital risk management 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level 
of risk. 

The group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.  The group manages the capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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31. Capital management and financial risks (continued) 

a. Capital risk management (continued) 

Gearing ratio: 

The gearing ratio at year end as follows: 
2017  2016 

KD  KD 
Wakala investment  20,999,424 21,322,928 
Notes payable 7,379  - 
Due to banks  54,981  - 
Term deposits (235,000) -
Cash and cash equivalents (4,910,945) (8,933,062) 
Net debt 15,915,839 12,389,866 
Total equity  31,577,018 36,404,811 
Net debt to equity ratio %50  34% 

b. Financial risks 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause 
the other party to incur a financial loss. The group credit policy and exposure to credit risk are monitored on 
an ongoing basis. The group seeks to avoid undue concentration of risks with individuals or group of 
customers in specific locations or business through diversification of lending activities.  It also obtains 
security when appropriate.  

The maximum credit risk exposure arising from default of the counter-party is limited to the carrying amount 
of cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, due from related parties, wakala receivables and Islamic 
finance. 

Market risk 

(i) Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates.  There is a risk of losses due to exchange rate fluctuations and the group does not 
hedge foreign currency exposure.  

At 31 December, the group had the following significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies:  

2017 
Equivalent  

2016
Equivalent 

KD  KD 
US Dollars 1,803,000  2,832,137 
Qatari Riyal (20,999,424)  (21,322,928) 
UAE Dirhams 7,682,394  18,967,002 
Egyptian Pound 1,801,053  1,654,137 
Lebanese Lira 4,091,560  4,206,322 
Saudi Riyal 839,597  - 
Bahraini Dinar 884,624  - 
Net assets denominated in foreign currency (3,897,196)  6,336,670 

The table below analyze the effect of a 5% strengthening in value of the currency rate against the Kuwaiti 
Dinar from levels applicable at 31 December 2017 and 2016, with all other variables held constant on the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and equity. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net 
reduction in consolidated statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net potential 
increase.  
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31. Capital management and financial risks (continued) 

(b) Financial risks (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) 

Change in 
currency 

rate in  

2017 2016 

Currency
Effect on 

profit
Effect on 

equity
Effect on 

profit  
Effect on 

equity
% KD KD KD  KD

USD +5 83,321 6,829 134,837  6,707
QAR +5 (1,049,971) - (1,066,146)  -
AED +5 62,920 321,200 44,336  904,014
EGP +5 71,128 18,925 62,473  20,234
Lebanese 
Lira +5 204,578 - 210,316  -
Saudi Riyal +5 41,980 - -  -
Bahraini 
dinar +5 - 44,231 -  -

(ii) Equity price risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
equity prices. Financial instruments, which potentially subject the group to equity price risk, consist 
principally of investments at fair value through statement of profit or loss, available for sale investments and 
investment in an associate. The group manages this risk by diversifying its investments on the basis of the 
pre-determined asset allocations across various categories, continuous appraisal of market conditions and 
trends and management estimate of long and short term changes in fair value. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the changes in fair value to reasonably possible changes 
in equity prices, with all other variables held constant.  The effect of decreases in equity prices is expected to 
be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown. 

Change in 
equity price  

Effect on 
profit

Effect on 
equity

Change in 
equity price

Effect on 
profit  

Effect on 
equity

2017  2017 2017 2016 2016  2016
KD  KD KD KD KD  KD

Kuwait +5% 178,495 384,254 +5% 402,523 128,532
Middle East +5% 41,980 334,703 +5% - 916,974

(iii) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the 
fair values of financial instruments. The Group has no profit bearing assets, and has interest bearing 
liabilities represented in term loans, murabaha payables, due to banks and notes payable. The Group is 
exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its borrowings. The risk is managed by the Group maintaining an 
appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Board has established levels of interest rate 
risk by setting limits on the profit rate gaps for stipulated periods. 

Provisions are monitored on a regular basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained 
within established limits.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the result for the year to a reasonably possible change in 
profit rates of the Group borrowings +1% and –1% (2016: +1% and –1%) retrospectively from the beginning 
of the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market 
condition and rates.

2017  2016
+1%  +1%
KD KD

Result for the year 195,472  202,631

There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 2017 71

Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
State of Kuwait

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

35 

31.        Capital management and financial risks (continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. The group’s 
main liquidity risk is from wakala payables and to limit this risk, management has rescheduled the majority 
of its wakala payables and is confident that they will be able to subsequently renew the due dates again. 
Management manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis. For liquidity 
profile of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December (note 33). 

c. Fair value of financial instruments

i) Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 

The fair values of financial assets are determined as follows:  

 The fair values of financial assets (quoted equity securities) with standard terms and conditions and 
traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices. 

 The fair values of financial assets (unquoted funds) are determined based on prices from observable 
current market transactions. 

 The fair values of other financial assets (unquoted equity securities) are determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using market data 
that are unobservable. 

ii) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable. 

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets. 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices). 

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD

Investments at fair value through statement of profit 
or loss 
Quoted equities 2,340,395 - 2,340,395
Unquoted equities - 839,597 839,597
Available-for-sale investments
Quoted local / foreign equities 8,710,924 - 8,710,924
Unquoted local / foreign equities - 5,668,225 5,668,225
Total 11,051,319 6,507,822 17,559,141

31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD

Investments at fair value through statement of profit 
or loss 
Quoted equities 2,072,879 - 2,072,879
Available-for-sale investments
Quoted local / foreign equities 1,412,494 - 1,412,494
Unquoted local / foreign equities - 19,497,626 19,497,626
Total 3,485,373 19,497,626 22,982,999
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31.        Capital management and financial risks (continued) 

c. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

ii) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets as follows: 

31 December 2017

Investment at fair 
value through profit 

or loss
Available for sale 

Investments
KD KD

Beginning balance -  19,497,626
Transfer to level 1 -  (18,080,281)
Transfer to associate -  3,443,839
Total gains or losses
Addition through business combination 992,148  1,098,873
In other comprehensive income -  (291,832)
In profit or loss  (152,551)  -
Closing balance 839,597  5,668,225

31 December 2016
Available for 

sale Investments
KD

Beginning balance 19,748,581
Total gains or losses 
 In other comprehensive income (250,955)
Closing balance 19,497,626

32. Segment information 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it earn 
revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker to allocate  resources to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 

a)  Reportable segments 
The group considers business units that provide specific products and services to constitute reportable 
segment. Since group’s activities mainly relate to investment management, only one reportable segment is 
identified. 

b)  Geographical areas 
The group conducts its business activities mainly in State of Kuwait. Financial information about 
geographical areas for the year ended 31 December are set out below: 

31 December 2017

31 December 2016

Others geographical segment includes, United Arab Emirates, Qatar, Bahrain, Saudi Arabia and Egypt. 

Kuwait Others Total 
KD KD KD 

Net revenue 2,406,504 613,389 3,019,893 
Segment results 592,528 9,617 602,145 
Segment assets 39,789,887 17,190,308 56,980,195 
Segment liabilities  4,221,991 21,181,186 25,403,177 

Kuwait Others Total 
KD KD KD 

Net revenue 2,241,135 607,582 2,848,717 
Segment results 661,160 252,202 913,362 
Segment assets  29,627,892 30,560,110 60,188,002 
Segment liabilities  2,303,892 21,479,299 23,783,191 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017



Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C
Kuwait

Annual Report 2017 73

Al Safat Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) and its subsidiaries 
State of Kuwait

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

37 

33. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 
The group’s maturity profile set out below is based on the remaining period at the financial position date to 
the contractual maturity date. In the case of financial instruments that do not have a contractual maturity 
date, the maturity is based on management’s estimate of time period in which the asset will be collected or 
disposed and the liability settled. 

At 31 December 2017 
Past due but 

not paid Up to 1 year Over 1 year  Total
KD KD KD  KD

Assets 
Available for sale investments - 8,710,924 5,668,225 14,379,149
Accounts receivable and other assets
(except prepaid expenses) - 2,869,795 - 2,869,795
Due from related parties - 573,893 - 573,893
Investments at fair value through 
statement of profit or loss - 3,179,992 - 3,179,992
Term deposits - 235,000 - 235,000
Cash and cash equivalent - 4,910,945 -  4,910,945
Assets held for sale - 1,285,490 -  1,285,490
Total assets - 21,766,039 5,668,225 27,434,264

Liabilities 
Provision for staff indemnity - - 866,039  866,039
Wakala investment  20,999,424 - -  20,999,424
Accounts payable and other 
liabilities - 2,903,269 -  2,903,269
Due to related party - 1,000 -  1,000
Notes payable - 7,379 -  7,379
Due to bank - 54,981 -  54,981
Total liabilities 20,999,424 2,966,629 866,039  24,832,092

At 31 December 2016 
Assets 
Available for sale investments - 1,412,494 19,497,626 20,910,120
Accounts receivable and other assets
(except prepaid expenses) - 2,130,172 - 2,130,172
Due from related parties - 307,897 - 307,897
Wakala receivables and Islamic finance - 201,797 - 201,797
Investments at fair value through 
statement of profit or loss - 2,072,879 - 2,072,879
Cash and cash equivalent - 8,933,062 -  8,933,062
Assets held for sale - 276,861 -  276,861
Total assets - 15,335,162 19,497,626 34,832,788

Liabilities 
Provision for staff indemnity - - 509,159  509,159
Wakala investment 21,322,928 - -  21,322,928
Accounts payable and other liabilities - 1,935,577 -  1,935,577
Due to related party - 15,527 -  15,527
Total liabilities 21,322,928 1,951,104 509,159  23,783,191

34. Past due wakala payable  
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had past due wakalas in the amount of KD 20,999,424 (2016: KD 
21,322,928) representing the amount recorded in Group’s books with respect to appeals court judgement No. 
2013/2701 commercial / 12 (note 21). 
                                         
The management of the parent company has a restructuring plan, where they are discussing a variety of 
options for the purpose of settling the debts through swap of certain assets and/or restructuring the wakalas 
from medium to long term.  
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